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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Mt. Zion United Methodist Church faces west at 1334 29th Street, N.W.
within the boundaries of the Georgetown Historic District. The church is a
simple, brick building with "Gothic" decorative elements which give a feel-
ing of dignity and verticality to the main entrance facade.

The Mt. Zion Church is two stories high except on the east where the additionm
does not extend to the full height of the rear elevation. The building is
about 50 feet wide by 75 feet deep, with a 15 foot rear addition{which was
added in 1904). The facade was originally smooth-faced brick which has
been sandblasted and repointed. The brick is laid in common bond with a
brick belt course at the level of the main window sills and at the spring
level of the tower windows,

The front facade is divided into three main bays, a central entrance bay
flanked by tower bays. The central bay consists of an entrance door and

two 3/2 light sash windows of colored leaded glass. These have flat hood
molds with sandstone keystones. The entrance door is modern but the jambs
and soffit are original with moulded panels; the door is framed by pilaster
strips and a pointed arch. Above the door is a tympanum with a two-light
colored glass window, On the second story is the large central window
flanked by two lancet windows of triple sash with 3/2/2-lights, all of
colored glass with a decorative geometric pattern and divided by wooden
mullions. The lower portion of the central window consists of two 2/2-1ight
windows supporting a horizontal strip defined by eight shallow pointed arches
(which correspond to the interior balcony). From this rises a 16 pane lancet
window with the same hood molding and keystone as is found in the other
arches. Directly above the arch in the apex of the gable is a small, pointed
arch ventilator. The side towers rise from each side of the building and
form a parapet for the lower slope of the gable roof which is hidden behind
them, The fenestration on each tower is identical. On the ground floor are
three blind pointed arches with sandstone sills and keystones, and on the
second story of each tower is one lancet window of colored glass with
3/2/2-1ights and the same moulding and keystone as the other arches.

The walls of each side are red brick laid in common bond with headers every
seven rows., The basement is lighted by seven 6/6-light clear sash with
tudor arch heads. All have red painted stone sills. At the sanctuary
level, are found six triple sash windows with 3/2/2-1light color glass panes.
Spaced between these windows are buttress pilaster strips approximately 21
inches wide. Also found on the side facades are star tie bars. There are
four eight-pointed tie rod stars on the balcony level and three five-pointed
stars on the sanctuary floor level. In the western addition, there are
windows at the second floor level, each 1/1 sash; the eastern one is clear
glass with a tudor arch and the western one has leaded colored glass with

a pointed arch. Both have moulded wooden frames.

The corbeled brick entablature supports a sheet metal cornice painted white
which is crowned by a finial in the shape of two double volutes at the
peak of the gable. The east-west gable roof is covered with slate and the
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Joint Committee on Landmarks has designated the Mt. Zion United
Methodist Church a Category II Landmark of importance which contributes
significantly to the cultural heritage and visual beauty of the District
of Columbia. The establishment of the congregation of the Mt. Zion Church
dates to 1814, which makes it the oldest Black Church in Georgetown and one
of the oldest Black churches in the District of Columbia. Mt. Zion has
been thought to have been a station in the underground railroad, and the
church records give some credence to this supposition. The present
structure, which was constructed between 1876 and 1884 with the help of
members of the congregation, is a simple, brick church with Gothic decora-
tive elements. The visual interest provided by the articulation of the
facade of the church and the scale of the structure make it a contributing
element in the Georgetown Historic District.

The establishment of separate Black or Negro Methodist churches began in
the early 19th century in the Middle Atlantic region when Black members
split from the Methodist church and formed congregations consisting of both
freedmen and slaves. This is true of the early history of Mt. Zion whose
members originally formed part of the congregation of the Montgomery Street
Methodist Church (now the Dumbarton Avenue Methodist Church). The Black
members- of this congregation elected to form their own church and on June
3, 1814, purchased a lot 35" x 50' on Mill Street (now 27th Street) from
Henry Foxall, a Methodist church leader. The group, known as the Colored
Members of the Georgetown Station, erected a church which was variously
called "The Ark" and the "Meeting House" until 1844 when it was renamed

Mt. Zion. The congregation did not have a Black minister, however, until
the Reverend John Brice was appointed in 1864.

The church has long been alleged to have been a station in the underground
railroad system, an allegation which is somewhat substantiated by an
examination of the church records. The following is an analysis taken
from HABS records (see bibliography):
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"Mt. Zion United Methodist Church," Georgetown Architecture--Northwest

Washington, District of Columbia, Historic American Buildings -Survey
Selections, Number 10, issued jointly by the Commission of Fine Arts and
the Historic American Buildings Survey, 1970, pp. 98-116.

Beyond the Fireworks of '76- A Study of Historic Sites in the District of
Columbia of Special Significance to Afro-Americans, prepared by the Afro-

American Bicentennial Corporation, December, 1972, pp. 52-55.
(Continued on Form 10-300a)
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7. Description ~ Continued

west addition has a standing seam roof. There are two chimneys.

The church consists of two stories, a lower level which contains a large
lecture room and an upper level containing the sanctuary, The lecture room
is approximately 51 feet by 48 feet and is divided into four east-west
sections by three rows of cast-iron columns. The sanctuary is reached by two
stairways which rise from the entrance hall to the upper vestibule. The main
sanctuary is a rectangular hall approximately 61 feet by 47 feet. Within the
sanctuary there is a balcony supported on columns which projects about 12
feet on each side and about 8 feet on the rear. The outer face of the balcony
is decorated with applique gothic arches allegedly done by members of the
congregation. The ceiling is the most notable part of the interior; it is
composed of pressed tin tracery in 2 foot square panels with a deep cove
around the edge.
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8. Significance - Continued

The first volume of records, A Register of the Colored Members
of the Methodist Episcopal Church in Georgetown Station covers
the period of 1830 to 1850. Lists of members' names are recorded
with remarks mostly relevant to their attendance at church meetings.
Many of the names are followed by remarks such as " 'gone away',
'taken away,''cannot be found,' 'lost,' 'sold to the South,' 'sold
and gone,' or simply 'sold' "...
In the second volume of the church records, dated from 1850 to 1865, there
were more frequent remarks of "gone home," "sold off" or "escaped."

The HABS account also quotes from an article in the Pittsburgh Courier,

July 24, 1948, which gives the following explanation for the remarks:

" 'Gone away' " meant that the individual had been sent by Underground Rail-
road to Harper's Ferry and then to Canada...i 'taken away' meant one had come
into the hands of patrollers; 'lost' indicated a mysterious and often tragic
disapperance."

The Mt. Zion Church also provided educational services for its parishioners.
A well-attended school existed at the church from 1840 until just before the
Civil War. 1In 1864 a teacher for Blacks was sent to the church by the
Pennsylvania Freedmen's Relief Association; the staff was shortly expanded

to three, and the school enjoyed a large attendance.

In the 1830 City Directory the church was described as "a small brick building
on Mill Street..." It was remodeled in 1856 to accommodate the large and
growing congregation which numbered 549 as early as 1844, 1In 1875 the
congregation elected to build a new church and to locate on a new site.
Although the church had $2,560 ivested in the Freedmen's Savings Bank, the
bank failed in 1874 leaving the church with only $486. The members proceeded
to raise new funds and the present site was purchased from Alfred Pope in
July of 1875 for $2,581. The cornerstone was first laid in July of 1876, and
relaid in May of 1880. The members bought their own materials and did their
own contracting thus saving on construction costs. At the time of construc-
tion, there was some dissension among the members, and one group split off
from the Mt. Zion congregation and formed the African Methodist Episcopal
Church at 26th and P Streets, with the Reverend James T. Morris as its first
pastor. This, however, did not appear to diminish the congregation of the
Mt. Zion Church.

The first services were held in the lecture room of the new building on
October 31, 1880, although this room was not completed until 1882, and the
building at that time had no roof. 1In 1883 galleries were installed, and
the church was finished with wainscoting, plaster and a furnace, By July 6,
1884, the rest of the church furniture was in place and the building was
dedicated.
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8., Significance - Continued

The church has maintained its strength and congregation throughout the
changing residential patterns of Georgetown, Although many of its 350 members
no longer live in Georgetown, they continue to worship at this church, pro-
viding continuity to one of the oldest congregations in the District of

Columbia,
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